
December 3, 2013

MEMBERS OF THE CITY COUNCIL: 
Sandi Bloem, Mayor   

Councilmen Edinger, Goodlander, McEvers, Kennedy, Gookin, Adams 



CONSENT CALENDAR 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY   
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE, IDAHO, 

HELD AT COEUR D’ALENE CITY HALL 
NOVEMBER 19, 2013 

 
The Mayor and Council of the City of Coeur d’Alene met in a regular session of said Council at 
the Coeur d’Alene Library Community Room, November 19, 2013, at 6:00 p.m., there being 
present upon roll call the following members: 
 
Mayor Bloem 
 
Steve Adams    )    Members of Council Present 
Loren Ron Edinger   )   
Deanna Goodlander   )     
Woody McEvers                      ) 
Dan Gookin    ) 
Mike Kennedy    ) 
  
 
CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order by Mayor Bloem. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  The pledge of allegiance was led by Councilman Gookin. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Councilman Kennedy, seconded by Goodlander to amend the agenda to 
include the executive session subcategory (a)  to the agenda to consider hiring a public officer, 
employee, staff member or individual agent, wherein the respective qualities of individuals are to 
be evaluated in order to fill a particular vacancy or need. This paragraph does not apply to filling 
a vacancy in an elective office or deliberations about staffing needs in general to the agenda.   
Motion Carried. 
 
2013-2014 SNOW PLAN PRESENTATION:  Street Superintendent Tim Martin presented the 
annual Snow Plan.   He stated that the crew will be aggressive to avoid ice floors and continue 
hitting commercial areas, bus routes, and hills as priority areas.   His estimated completion time 
for a storm occurrence is 38 hours.  He clarified that they will not be plowing alleys.  He asked 
that residents keep vehicles from the street during snow storms to aid in the removal process.  He 
also stated that they are ready for large snow events or any other scenarios.  The plan will be 
posted to the city’s web site for those who would like to review it.  He encouraged citizens to 
assist neighbors who need help.  Additionally, Mr. Martin provided a brief overview of the Street 
Department inner workings.  Councilman Goodlander thanked Mr. Martin for his continual 
improvement and his crew’s hard work.   
 
MOTION:  Motion by Goodlander, seconded by Edinger to move the Snow Plan item forward 
on the agenda. Motion Carried. 
 

Council Minutes November 19, 2013  Page 1 



APPROVAL OF THE 2013-2014 SNOW PLAN  
 

MOTION:  Motion by Goodlander, seconded by Gookin to approve the 2013-2014 Snow Plan. 
 
DISCUSSION:  Councilman Gookin stated that the city-wide snow removal time moved from 50 
to 38 hours over the years, and wondered what it would take to make that even less time.  Mr. 
Martin stated that he believes it would take more operators; however, citizens are currently satisfied 
with the response time and there is a balance of cost versus concerns.   
 
Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
 
Roy Wargie, Coeur d’Alene, stated that he is concerned about bicycles not obeying the traffic 
laws.  He suggested the City Council implement bicycle licensing and require lights for those 
that ride at night.  Councilman McEvers asked if Mr. Wargie has attended the bicycle committee.  
Mr. Wargie stated that he would try to attend the next meeting.  Councilman Adams stated that 
the Pedestrian Bicycle Committee has worked to educate the community for years.   
 
David Barger, Coeur d’Alene, expressed concerns regarding Agenda 21 and all employees 
upholding the constitution.  He provided the Council with a summary of his concerns and asked 
that the City reverse any movement toward Agenda 21.  
 
CONSENT CALENDAR:  Motion by Kennedy, seconded by Goodlander, to approve the 
Consent Calendar as presented.  

1. Approval of Council Minutes for November 5, 2013.  
2. Approval of Bills as Submitted. 
3. Setting of General Services and Public Works Committees meetings for November 25, 

2013 at 12:00 noon and 4:00 p.m. respectively. 
4. Approval of a Cemetery Lot repurchase from Tim Jones, Lot 76, Block V, Section RIV, 

Forest Cemetery.  
5. Setting of a Public Hearing for December 17, 2013 for various fee increases.    
6. Setting of a Public Hearing for December 17, 2013 for approval of the 2012 International 

Building Code with amendments, the 2012 International Existing Building Code, the 
2009 Idaho State Plumbing Code, and the 2012 International Fire Code (IFC).    

7. Setting of a Public Hearing for December 17, 2013 for O-2-13, Reduction of single 
family special use threshold.    

8. RESOLUTION NO. 13-055:  A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, 
KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO AUTHORIZING THE BELOW MENTIONED 
CONTRACTS AND OTHER ACTIONS OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE 
INCLUDING APPROVAL & ACCEPTANCE OF COEUR D'ALENE PLACE 
COMMERCIAL IMPROVEMENTS, AND MAINTENANCE / WARRANTY 
AGREEMENT; APPROVAL OF A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
J.U.B. ENGINEERS, INC. FOR THE 2013/2014 WASTEWATER COLLECTION 
SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS; APPROVAL OF AN ACQUISITION 
/ LEASE AGREEMENT WITH ROWAND MACHINERY (JOHN DEERE) FOR TWO 

 Council Minutes November 19, 2013          Page 2  



NEW FRONT END LOADERS; AND APPROVING THE SURPLUS OF A 1992 
CHEVROLET PICKUP, COATES TIRE MACHINE, AND OBSOLETE TIRES FROM 
THE STREET DEPARTMENT. 

 
ROLL CALL:    Edinger, Yes; Adams, Yes; McEvers, Yes; Goodlander, Yes; Gookin, Yes; Kennedy, 
Yes.  Motion carried. 
 
COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 
Councilman Goodlander stated that there are two public art projects that have maquettes on 
display at the library.  One project is for McEuen Park near the middle of Tubbs Hill in the park 
(not at an entrance of the hill), and the other that will be located near the old log yard near the 
wastewater treatment plan.  Public comments are being sought at this time and will be used in the 
determination of the final chosen piece.   
 
Councilman McEvers stated that Front Street is open from 6th to 7th Street and provides a good 
perspective of McEuen Park.  Holidays are coming and he recommended adoption of a pet for 
the season if one is already considering a new pet.   
 
Councilman Kennedy stated that Specialized Needs Recreation was awarded the Governor’s 
Brightest Star Award in the organization category.  He read the press release outlining the 
organization and why it was awarded this great achievement and expressed congratulations to 
their organization.  
 
Councilman Gookin stated that he reviewed the financial status report included in the packet, 
which reflects one month into the fiscal year and found one item that was already at 100% 
entitled General Government.   He contacted the Finance Director and found that this is a money 
transfer account and only for accounting purposes.  
 
Councilman Adams stated that Mayor Elect Widmyer contacted him and they will be meeting 
next week.  He asked that citizens feel free to contact him with their suggestions for him to 
discuss with Mr. Widmyer.   
 
ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT:  Ms. Gabriel stated that the city team donated to the Kroc 
Center’s “Families Feeding Families” event, which is a program that collects non-perishable 
food for families to have a holiday meal with the food bank providing the turkey.  The City’s 
donation will feed up to 96 people.  The Atlas Well was tested last Friday and results were good.  
Water quality tests will be conducted next.  The City’s annual leaf pick-up program is in 
progress.  City street crew are working their way north. Please do not put leaves in the street after 
the crews have completed your area, as leaves will be picked up only once.  Expected completion 
will be before December 1st. If you have questions or need additional information, please check 
the website, streets.cdaid.org or call the Street Maintenance information line at 769-2233. With 
the extreme cold weather, St. Vincent de Paul’s Warming Center will be open tonight, November 
19th through Friday, November 22nd.  Future nights will be extended as extreme cold persists.  
As the sub-25 degree temperatures continue, St. Vincent’s shelter will always be open from 7:00 
p.m. to 7:00 a.m.  The Post Falls Shelter located at 202 W. 7th Street, behind the Post Falls St. 

 Council Minutes November 19, 2013          Page 3  



Vincent de Paul Thrift store, is able to shelter 65 individuals and will have available sleeping 
bags, blankets, gloves, stocking caps, coats, a full bathroom, warm food, and drinks.  The St. 
Vincent de Paul “Soup Off” will be held Thursday, November 21 at the Kootenai County 
Fairgrounds with celebrity servers, including some city staff.  Just a reminder that City Offices 
will be closed on Thursday and Friday, November 28th and 29th, in celebration of the 
Thanksgiving Holiday.  City offices will reopen on Monday, December 2, 2013.  Garbage pickup 
will be delayed by one day.  Crews are working to open some of the lower parking lot off of 
Front Avenue by November 27th, in time for the lighting parade and the holiday season.   
 
APPROVAL OF THE PURCHASE OF A NEW 2014/2015 FREIGHTLINER TANK TRUCK 
FROM FREEDOM TRUCK CENTERS, INC. FOR THE WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT. 
 
Mike Becker, Wastewater Utility Project Manager, stated that this item was on a tight timeline, as 
the 2014 trucks need to be ordered now, otherwise they would need to wait until the 2015 trucks are 
available.  A delay would cause a high cost and a delay in receipt of the vehicle.  Council approved 
the request for bids and surplused the old tanker truck as a trade in.   One bid was received and staff 
recommends acceptance of the bid and allow staff to move forward with the purchase.  This item 
was under the budgeted amount (which was $120,000) by coming in at $102,000.   
 
MOTION:  Motion by Goodlander, seconded by Gookin to approve the purchase of a new 
2014/2015 Freightliner Tank Truck from Freedom Truck Centers, Inc. for the Wastewater 
Department.  Motion Carried. 
 
FRONT AVENUE PROJECT – 2ND TO 3RD STREET UPDATE 
 
City Engineer Gordon Dobler stated that the Front Avenue design from 2nd to 3rd has been 
discussed several times.  New information is being brought forward to include a donation from 
the Hagadone Corporation to enhance the improvements to the Centennial Trail through that 
corridor.  He has met with the Centennial Trail Committee and they are in favor of the design.  
With the large donation there will be a ripple effect to the budget.  He stated that he will bring 
back a budget amendment and move forward with a bid for construction in the spring.     
 
Councilman Goodlander clarified that this is property from the resort through to 3rd Street along 
Front Avenue and requested Mr. Dobler show a drawing of the area/proposal.  Councilman 
Gookin asked Mr. Gridley about the possibility of the PUD amendment coming before the 
Council.  Mr. Gridley stated that Council should avoid questions pertaining to the PUD area as 
outlined in the green area on the drawing, as they would hear any appeals of the PUD 
amendment.  Councilman Gookin asked if this design would come back to Council for approval.  
Mr. Dobler stated that this is conceptual, but the award of the contract would come before the 
Council after bids are received.  Councilman Goodlander clarified the Resort’s request to amend 
their PUD would go to the Planning Commission and, if it is not approved, they can appeal to the 
City Council.   Mr. Gridley reiterated that anyone could appeal it to the City Council, not just the 
applicant.  Councilman Goodlander stated that she is concerned that there will be conflict with 
the plaza area and Centennial Trail traffic, as it does not seem to have a connector.  Mr. Dobler 
clarified that the Centennial Trail Committee was accepting of the design and clarified that there 
are ballards that will be removable on either end for delivery traffic (a 14’ area), but permanent 

 Council Minutes November 19, 2013          Page 4  



ballards will be installed in the center.  Councilman Gookin stated that people are currently using 
a circular parking area south of the clock tower and it seems to be removed in the drawing and 
wondered about policies regarding removal of public parking.  Councilman Goodlander stated 
that there will be parking stalls removed on the south side of Sherman Avenue between 2nd and 
3rd Streets to accommodate a right turn lane.  Mr. Gridley stated that some of the property is 
outside of the PUD.  Councilman Edinger asked how many parking stalls would be removed 
between 2nd and 3rd Streets.  Mr. Dobler stated approximately 4 or 5 stalls would be removed.  
Councilman Gookin expressed concern that the City requires a certain amount of parking stalls 
be provided with new construction without an option to remove those stalls; however, it appears 
the City is doing that with this project.  Mayor Bloem stated the loss of the parking spaces was 
previously discussed and reviewed as opening to the park and there are additional stalls in the 
structure and along Front Avenue.  Councilman Gookin stated that the parking lot south of the 
clock tower is convenient and would be a loss.  Mayor Bloem reminded Mr. Gookin that it is 
within the PUD.  Mr. Gridley clarified that there is an amendment to the PUD that will go to the 
Planning Commission, not the design between 2nd and 3rd.  Mr. Dobler clarified that this is the 
first time that the City has had a design for this area, as the donation from the Hagadone 
Corporation allows for design enhancements including landscaping maintenance.    Councilman 
Goodlander asked if this will remain public right-of-way with the City maintaining it and 
providing the plowing.  Mr. Dobler stated that level of detail has not been worked out yet and 
should be a part of conversations going forward.       
 
PUBLIC HEARING:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) 
SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENT FOR PLAN YEAR 2013.   
 
Grant Administrator Sherri Wastweet provided a brief presentation of the amendments to the 2013 
Action Plan for CDBG funding.  Amendments included an increase in initial funding from 
$243,000 to $297,298; an increase in the Public Services/Community Grants budget line-item from 
$22,567.00 to $66,111.64 with specific awards to St. Vincent de Paul for rehabilitation to their 
Community Kitchen in the amount of $36,000 and $30,111.64 awarded to Trinity Group Homes for 
rehabilitation work to various low-moderate income (LMI) apartments owned and operated by 
Trinity; and an increase to the Emergency Minor Home Repair Program budget line item from 
$40,000 to $50,753.36.   Ms. Wastweet stated that pursuant to HUD requirements the City 
published the notice of public comment period and public hearing on October 14, 2013.  The public 
comment period was open from October 14, 2013 through November 15, 2013 and no public 
comments were received.     
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Mayor Bloem called for public comments. 
 
Troy Tymesen, Dalton Gardens, stated that this program is a great program and he knows the 
community members are also thankful for the program.  He stated that this is a program that flies 
under the radar but is extremely helpful.  He thanked the City Council for their stewardship of these 
community funds.  Panhandle Area Council (PAC) is a great partner in getting projects done and 
managing the grant.  
 
Mayor Bloem closed public comment. 
 

 Council Minutes November 19, 2013          Page 5  



DISCUSSION:  Councilman McEvers asked about the sewer line EMRAP and who dug the trench 
shown in the pictures presented.  Ms. Wastweet clarified that the homeowner had to uncover the 
line to determine the problem prior to his request for funds.   Councilman Kennedy noted that Mr. 
Runkle from Trinity Homes was in the audience waving thank you.  He also noted that Mr. Cook, 
the Executive Director of PAC, was in the audience and thanked the organization for its partnership.  
He specifically thanked Ms. Wastweet for her hard work and will support this item.  Councilman 
Goodlander stated that she believes that PAC has been a good partner and her service on their board 
has been great.  Councilman Edinger stated that it is good to have Greg Cook as the new Executive 
Director and back in our community. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Kennedy, seconded by Edinger to approve the Plan Year 2013 Community 
Development Block Grant Substantial Amendment.  Motion carried. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION: Motion by Goodlander, seconded by McEvers to enter into Executive 
Session as provided by I.C. 67-2345 §(a) To consider hiring a public officer, employee, staff 
member or individual agent, wherein the respective qualities of individuals are to be evaluated in 
order to fill a particular vacancy or need, §(c) To conduct deliberations concerning labor 
negotiations or to acquire an interest in real property which is not owned by a public agency; §(f)  
To communicate with legal counsel for the public agency to discuss the legal ramifications of 
and legal options for pending litigation or controversies not yet being litigated but imminently 
likely to be litigated.   
 
ROLL CALL:  Adams Aye; McEvers Aye; Goodlander Aye; Gookin Aye; Kennedy Aye; Edinger 
Aye.  Motion carried. 
 
The City Council entered into Executive Session at 7:55 p.m.  Those present were the Mayor, City 
Council, City Administrator, City Attorney, Deputy City Administrator, and the Finance Director.  
Matters discussed were related to labor negotiations, hiring, and pending litigation.  Council 
returned to regular session at 8:34 p.m. 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Kennedy, seconded by Edinger to approve the Separation Agreement with 
Sid Fredrickson.  Motion Carried. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Motion by Edinger, seconded by Adams that there being no further business 
before the Council that this meeting is adjourned. Motion carried. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:35 p.m. 
 
      
       _____________________________ 
       Sandi Bloem, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Renata McLeod, City Clerk                                                               

 Council Minutes November 19, 2013          Page 6  



RESOLUTION NO. 13-056 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, 
IDAHO AUTHORIZING THE BELOW MENTIONED CONTRACTS AND OTHER 
ACTIONS OF THE CITY OF COEUR D’ALENE INCLUDING AN AGREEMENT WITH 
LEGENDS PHOTOGRAPHY FOR YOUTH SPORTS AND  AN AGREEMENT WITH 
HANDSHAKE PRODUCTIONS FOR A SUMMER CONCERT SERIES, 
         

WHEREAS, it has been recommended that the City of Coeur d’Alene enter into the 
contract(s), agreement(s) or other actions listed below pursuant to the terms and conditions set 
forth in the contract(s), agreement(s) and other action(s) documents attached hereto as Exhibits 
“A through B” and by reference made a part hereof as summarized as follows: 

 
A. An Agreement with Legends Photography for Youth Sports; AND 
 
B. An Agreement with Handshake Productions for a Summer Concert Series; 

 
AND; 
 
WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d'Alene and the 

citizens thereof to enter into such agreements or other actions; NOW, THEREFORE, 
 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d'Alene that the 
City enter into agreements or other actions for the subject matter, as set forth in substantially the 
form attached hereto as Exhibits "A through B" and incorporated herein by reference with the 
provision that the Mayor, City Administrator, and City Attorney are hereby authorized to modify 
said agreements or other actions so long as the substantive provisions of the agreements or other 
actions remain intact. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Clerk be and they are hereby 
authorized to execute such agreements or other actions on behalf of the City. 
 

DATED this 3rd day of December, 2013.   
 
 
 
                                        
                                   Sandi Bloem, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST 
 
 
 

[Resolution No. 13-056:  Page 1 of 2]   



      
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Motion by _______________, Seconded by _______________, to adopt the foregoing 
resolution.   
 
     ROLL CALL: 
 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER KENNEDY Voted _____ 
 
COUNCIL MEMBER GOODLANDER Voted _____ 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER MCEVERS Voted _____ 
 
COUNCIL MEMBER EDINGER Voted _____ 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER ADAMS Voted _____ 
 
COUNCIL MEMBER GOOKIN Voted _____ 
 

 
_________________________ was absent.  Motion ____________. 
 

[Resolution No. 13-056:  Page 2 of 2]   



GENERAL SERVICES 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
Date: November 25, 2013 
From: Steve Anthony, Recreation Director 
SUBJECT: YOUTH SPORTS PHOTOGRAPHY EXTENSION 

 
 
 
DECISION POINT:  
The Recreation Department is seeking authorization to extend the 
photography services of Legends Photography until January 1, 2016. 
 
History: 
The Recreation Department entered into a contract with Legends 
Photography to take individual and team pictures for the city’s youth 
recreation programs.   Legends has been the official photographer for the city 
all but 5 of the last 26 years.  They are very easy to work with and we are 
pleased with their customer service. 
 
Financial Analysis: 
Legends are requesting a $1.00 increase the price would be $9.00 for the 
basic picture package.  The cost since 2008 had been $8.00.  This is the first 
increase in fees to our participants in 7 years.  They will also provide 
sponsors’ plaques to the city at no charge. They will provide free team 
photos for the coaches and provide each player with a free bag tag.   
Legends also sponsor teams in each of our programs. 
    
Performance Analysis: 
Pictures of children participating in our youth programs have become a 
tradition.  We have been very pleased with Legends Photography.  Legends 
meets all time lines and produces a high quality picture.  Legends also 
provides a College Scholarship to 3 seniors in our community. 
 
Recommendation:  
The Recreation Department is requesting that the General Services 
Committee recommend to the City Council that the Legends Photography 
contract be extended through January 1, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 

F:\MuniServices\Council Packets\December 3, 2013\Staff Report - Legends Photography Agreement Extension.doc 



  

CONTRACT 
 
THIS CONTRACT, made and entered into this 3rd  day of December, 2013, by and between  

the City of Coeur d’ Alene, Kootenai County, Idaho, a municipal corporation duly organized and 
existing under and by virtue of the laws of the state of Idaho, hereinafter called “City,’ and Legends 
Sports Photography, an Idaho Corporation, hereinafter called the “Photographer,” 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

THAT, WHEREAS, Photographer, proposes to provide photography services in relation to 
youth programs and teams sponsored by the City Recreation Department, and  

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to enter into a contract with Photographer; NOW, 

THEREFORE, 
 

IN CONSIDERATION of such acceptance and payment by the City to the Photographer of 
one dollar, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and other valuable consideration, the 
Photographer agrees as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Photographer agrees to take photographs of youth program participants and 
teams sponsored by the City Recreation Department for all programs conducted between January 1, 
2014 and January 1, 2016 for the following sports programs: 

 
Youth Soccer 
Youth Baseball/Softball  
Youth Flag Football  
Youth Basketball 
Mini Kickers 
 
It will be the responsibility of the Photographer to have picture packages available to the 

Recreation Department approximately four weeks prior to the start of each youth program. 
 

SECTION 2: Photographer further agrees it will provide the participants the following 
photographic package for Nine and NO/100 Dollars ($9.00): 

 
One (1) 5 x 7 group photo - color 
One (1) 3 x 5 individual photo - color 
Two (2) 2 x 3 individual photos - color 

 
Photographer further agrees to place the group and individual photos in a memory mate 

folder. 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 13-056 1 | P a g e  Exhibit “a” 
  



  

SECTION 3: Photographer further agrees to provide the following: 
 

1. Free carbon fiber digital sponsor plaque with personalized appreciation message. 
2. Youth Star Scholarship Program.  A scholarship awarded to a high school senior who 

has participated in the Recreation Department’s program. 
3. Photo Delivery within three weeks of photo day. 
4. Free Bag Tag for every photo day participant. 
5. Photo Bucks (free memory mate coupon) for families that cannot afford pictures. 
6. Photographer will sponsor one team in every sport. 
7.  Free team photograph for coaches. 

 
SECTION 4: The parties further agree that the individuals and teams reserve the right to 

have photos re-shot if they are not satisfied with the quality of work.  The Photographer agrees to 
have all finished work back to the individuals within three (3) weeks of initial shooting. 
 

SECTION 5: The parties further agree that the Photographer is free to offer any other 
individual photograph or package to teams; however, the package listed is the only one guaranteed at 
the price quoted.   
 

SECTION 6: The parties further acknowledge that the City will not prohibit individuals or 
teams from seeking to obtain individual or team photographs from other sources. 
 
 SECTION 7: The parties further agree the photographer may increase picture rates to offset 
inflation, increased production costs, etc.  This increase shall be limited to a maximum of one dollar 
($1.00) per year and is subject to approval by the Coeur d’Alene Recreation Department. 

 
SECTION 8: If, through any cause, the Photographer shall fail to fulfill in a timely and 

proper manner his obligations under this agreement, including but not limited to poor quality, 
constantly missing delivery times, failure to retake a team’s photographs, or if the Photographer shall 
violate any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this agreement, the City shall thereupon 
have the right to terminate this agreement by giving written notice to the Photographer of such 
termination and specifying the effective date thereof, at least five (5) days before the effective date of 
such termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, surveys, and 
reports or other material prepared by the Photographer under this agreement shall at the option of the 
City become its property, and the Photographer shall be entitled to receive just and equitable 
compensation for any satisfactory work completed on such documents and materials. Equitable 
compensation shall not exceed the amount reasonably billed for work actually done and expenses 
reasonably incurred.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed the 

day and year first above written. 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 13-056 2 | P a g e  Exhibit “a” 
  



  

CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE   LEGENDS SPORTS PHOTOGRAPHY INC.             
 
 
 
 
By: ________________________  By: _________________________ 
 Sandi Bloem, Mayor      Jeff McLaughlin 
          
       
 Its: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 

Resolution No. 13-056 3 | P a g e  Exhibit “a” 
  



  

STATE OF IDAHO ) 
 ) ss. 
County of Kootenai ) 
 
 On this _____ day of December, 2013, before me, a Notary Public, personally appeared 
Sandi Bloem and Renata McLeod, known to me to be the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of 
the City of Coeur d'Alene and the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 
to me that said City of Coeur d'Alene executed the same. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day 
and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
 
   
 Notary Public for Idaho 
 Residing at   
 My Commission expires:   
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF IDAHO ) 
 ) ss. 
County of Kootenai ) 
 
 On this ______ day of December, 2013, before me, a Notary Public, personally appeared 
Tom Gallagher of Legends Photography, and known to me to be the person who executed the 
foregoing instrument on behalf of Legends Photography. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day 
and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
 
   
 Notary Public for Idaho 
 Residing at   
 My Commission expires:   
 

Resolution No. 13-056 4 | P a g e  Exhibit “a” 
  



PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 

Date:  November 18th, 2013 

From:  Bill Greenwood, Interim Parks Director 

SUBJECT: REVISIONS TO HANDSHAKE PRODUCTIONS AGREEMENT  
 

  (General Services - Action Required) 

 
DECISION POINT:   

Handshake Productions has requested a revision to the 2014 date schedule in their 
agreement. Recommendation is to approve the revision to the 2014 date schedule. 
 
HISTORY:   

The Summer Concert Series sponsored by Handshake Productions is entering its 19th 
year. This is a very successful event that has become a Sunday afternoon pastime for 
a good number of residents. The first three (3) concerts that are scheduled during the 
month of June have been moved indoors over the past few years due to inclement 
weather. The request by Handshake Productions is to move these three (3) concert 
dates from the beginning of the season to the end of the season.  
 
FINANCIAL ANAYSIS:   

We do not have any financial outlay for the concert series. All of the funds to produce 
the concerts are raised by Handshake Productions. 
 
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS:   

Attached is the revised agreement for Handshake Productions. The specific date 
changes would be to remove June 1st, 8th and 15th from the concert schedule and add 
August 31st, September 7th and 14th.  
 
DECISION POINT:   

Recommend to General Services the approval of the revised Handshake Productions 
agreement to reflect the new 2014 date schedule. 



 

AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and dated this 3rd day of December 2013, by and between 
the City of Coeur d'Alene, a municipal corporation organized pursuant to the laws of the state 
of Idaho, hereinafter referred to as the "City," and Handshake Productions, Inc., an Idaho 
corporation organized pursuant to the laws of the state of Idaho, hereinafter referred to as 
"Handshake," 
 
 W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and the Downtown Rotary Club of Coeur d’Alene in years past 
cooperated and worked together to accomplish the construction of the Rotary Lakeside Band 
Shell in the Coeur d'Alene City Park, Coeur d'Alene, Kootenai County, Idaho; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the purpose of said band shell is to provide music and other entertainment 
for those persons recreating in the Coeur d'Alene City Park which includes many residents of the 
city of Coeur d'Alene; and 
 

WHEREAS, Handshake is experienced in organizing musical performances; and  
 

WHEREAS, the parties are desirous of establishing a concert series for the summers of 
2012, 2013, and 2014;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the terms, conditions, and covenants 

hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Purpose:  The City, agrees to sponsor the 2012, 2013 and 2014 Rotary Lakeside 
Band Shell Concert Series (Concert Series) in cooperation with certain donors 
whose donations will fund concert performances. 

 
Each concert for the 2012, 2013 and 2014 summer Concert Series shall be 
deemed a special/specific event in accordance with Coeur d’Alene Municipal 
Code section 5.18.040.  

 
2. Limits On City Obligations:  The parties agree that the City shall have no 

obligations regarding the concert series other than those obligations specifically 
set forth in this agreement. 

 
3. No City Financial Obligation:  Handshake agrees that the City shall have no 

obligation to provide any financial contribution to the concert series. 
 
4. Permits:  The City Park’s Department Director shall, with reasonable dispatch, 

process requests for band shell/loud speaker permits submitted by Handshake for 
the purpose of utilization of the band shell for the concert series on the dates set 
forth herein.  However, applications for such permits shall be filed timely with the 
City and no later than forty (40) days before a particular concert.  Handshake 

Resolution No. 13-056 1 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



 

understands and agrees that a band shell permit and fee is necessary for each 
performance and the fee shall be paid to the City to recover costs the City incurs 
to facilitate the concert series.  

 
5. Commercial Limitations:  Handshake understands and agrees that the City's 

ownership of the City Park is subject to deed and other limitations which preclude 
activities in the City Park which are commercial in nature and not incidental to 
recreation and park purposes. 

 
A. Concessions Limited:  Except as set forth in paragraph 5(C) entitled “Food 

Vendors,” the parties further agree that neither Handshake nor any of the 
concert series performers or their agents shall solicit, authorize, use or 
operate any food concession in the City Park or on public property during 
the Concert Series.  However, Handshake may sell non-food items such as 
tapes, CD’s, T-shirts, hats, and items directly related to the event. 

 
B. No Charge:  The parties further agree that no charge, fee or attempt to 

collect a charge or fee shall be solicited or requested from persons wishing 
to listen to or watch the Concert Series. 

 
C. Food Vendors:  The parties further agree that the sponsor of each concert 

may provide two food concessions during the summer Concert Series of 
2012, 2013 and 2014. In the event there are multiple sponsors of any one 
concert, only two food concessions will be permitted.   

 
The food concessionaire must comply with all applicable provisions of the 
Coeur d’Alene Municipal Code, including but not necessarily limited to 
obtaining a public health permit, as well as compliance with the provisions 
of 5.18.020(C),(D),(E),(F) and (G). 

 
The parties further agree that the food concessionaire may operate 
between the hours of 12:00 P.M. and 5:00 P.M. Pacific Daylight Time the 
day of the scheduled concert and may only sell food items.  The sale of 
non-food items by the food concessionaire is prohibited. 
 

6. Concert Area Not To Be Delineated:  The parties agree that no specific area shall 
be set aside in any manner whatsoever for the purpose of delineating a specific 
concert listening or watching area.   

 
7. Signs:  The parties agree to the extent permitted by the Coeur d’Alene Municipal 

Codes including, but not limited to the Sign Code (15.24) that signs publicizing 
the Concert Series and recognizing private donors to the concert series may be 
erected. 

 

Resolution No. 13-056 2 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



 

A. Public Acknowledgment: Donors and performers of each performance 
may be publicly acknowledged at each concert for their respective 
contributions. 

 
B. Publicity:  The parties further agree that fliers are not permissible pursuant 

to municipal code unless the same are distributed from within a business 
or other private property.  Banners are not permitted by the Coeur d’Alene 
Sign Code, and advertising, other than as set forth herein, shall be by local 
newspapers, television, radio and store front posters.  To the extent 
permitted by law, the City will allow a sign advising of the concert and its 
donors to be located in such places as may be permitted by the Coeur 
d’Alene Sign Code as it now exists and may hereinafter be amended. 

 
8. Finances:  The parties agree that Handshake shall be responsible for all 

contractual arrangements and obligations with performers.  The City’s sole role 
shall be as an administrator for the funds donated by private parties to support the 
Concert Series.   

 
9. Performers:  The parties agree that various municipal codes including Coeur 

d’Alene Municipal Code Chapters 5.18 and 5.44 become applicable as the 
number of individuals attending solely the Concert Series increases above two 
hundred (200) individuals.  Therefore, Handshake agrees to select only those 
performers that Handshake reasonably believes will attract no more than two 
hundred (200) individuals (excluding those individuals that may be originally in 
the park for other purposes) to assure the crowd remains manageable and not a 
threat to public welfare and health.  To this end Handshake agrees to submit, for 
approval, a list of proposed performers to the City Park Department’s Director no 
later than sixty (60) days before each performance.  In the event the City Park 
Department's Director recommends against a proposed performer, Handshake 
agrees to find another performer(s).  

 
10. Sponsor List:  Handshake agrees it shall provide a list of proposed donors to the 

City Treasurer for approval no later than May 1, 2012, for the summer 2012 
Concert Series, no later than May 1, 2013 for the 2013 summer Concert Series, 
and no later than May 1, 2014 for the 2014 Summer Concert Series, noting the 
amount of the donor’s donation.  The City acting through its City Treasurer shall 
in its sole discretion approve or disapprove of the program donors. 

 
11. Concert Schedule:  The parties agree that there shall be eleven (11) concerts 

during the summers of 2012, 2013, and 2014, from 1:00 P.M. to 4:00 P.M. Pacific 
Daylight Time.   

 
The dates of the 11 concerts in 2012 shall be as follows:  June 3, 10, and 17; and 
July 1, 8, 15, 22, and 29; and August 12, 19, and 26. 

 

Resolution No. 13-056 3 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



 

The dates of the 11 concerts in 2013 shall be as follows: June 2, 9, 16 and 30; July 
7, 14, 21, and 28; and August 11, 18, and 25. 

 
The dates of the 11 concerts in 2014 shall be as follows: June 22; July 6, 13, 20 
and 27; August 10, 17, 24 and 31; and September 7, and 14. 

 
A. The parties agree that Handshake shall have an appropriate back-up venue 

in the event of inclement weather in its agreements with performers to 
insure that a concert does indeed take place.   

 
B. The parties agree the City may, from time to time, unilaterally cancel 

summer concert series events for reasons deemed by the City to be in the 
best interest of public welfare and safety. 

 
12. Additional Specific Duties of Handshake:  The parties agree that Handshake will:  
 

A. Secure sufficient donors and collect donations to cover the costs of the 
Concert Series and deposit the amount with the City.  If sufficient donors 
making a contribution of Twenty Seven Thousand Five Hundred and 
No/100 Dollars ($27,775.00) by May 1, 2012 for the 2012 summer 
Concert Series, and May 1, 2013, for the 2013 summer Concert Series, 
and May 1, 2014, for the 2014 summer Concert Series have not been 
acquired, the parties may agree to a downsized concert series consistent 
with the amount of funds received from donors.  Handshake shall neither 
contract nor initiate contract negotiations beyond the budgeted amounts 
set forth in Exhibit “1.”  

 
B. In the event donations for the concert series exceed the budgeted amount 

of Twenty Seven Thousand Five Hundred and No/100 Dollars 
($27,775.00) set forth in Exhibit “1” the funds to the extent permitted by 
law shall be utilized for additional concerts in each respective year. 

 
C. Develop the performers’ contracts which shall be subject to the terms of 

this agreement and all applicable laws of the State of Idaho and city of 
Coeur d’Alene. 

 
1. Include in the contracts with performers that they will not possess 

or use alcoholic beverages, or illegal drugs, in the City Park. 
Further, Handshake will include in performers’ contracts that 
tobacco products will not be possessed or used by performers on 
stage or in the park buildings. 

 
2. Include in contracts with performers a provision that performers 

will perform in appropriate attire, including shirts, and excluding 
swim wear.  

 

Resolution No. 13-056 4 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



 

D. Be at the Rotary Lakeside Band Shell at the Coeur d’Alene City Park at 
least two (2) hours before a performance begins to ensure the performers 
begin on time and to assist with their set up. 

 
E. Remain in attendance throughout the performance and act as Master of 

Ceremonies to ensure a smooth running performance. 
 
F. Remain until the performers leave to ensure a speedy break down and 

departure. 
 
G. Take care of all publicity, press releases, bulletin/calendar announcements 

and media advertising. 
 
H. Handshake shall coordinate its performance with the City Art’s 

Commission in order to work towards a common goal of furthering arts 
and entertainment for the benefit of the citizens of Coeur d’Alene 
including coordinating of scheduled events.  

 
13. The parties agree to the budget set forth in Exhibit “1” attached hereto and by this 

reference incorporated herein. 
 
14. Renegotiation:  Lessee may request in writing a three (3) extension of this 

agreement for the 2015, 2016 and 2017 summer Concert Series by submitting to 
Lessor a written request for this extension after May 1, 2014, and prior to 
November 1, 2014. Upon receipt of such request, the Parks and Recreation 
Commission, in its sole discretion, may recommend to the City that a three (3) 
year extension of the agreement with Handshake Productions be negotiated with 
the City and that such negotiations would begin in November 2014. If the three 
(3) year extension is approved, Lessee may, during the term of the extended 
agreement, request in writing another three (3) year extension for the 2018, 2019 
and 2020 summer Concert Series by submitting to Lessor a written request for 
this extension after May 1, 2016, and prior to November 1, 2016. Upon receipt of 
such request, the Parks and Recreation Commission, in its sole discretion, may 
recommend to the City that another three (3) year extension with Handshake 
Productions be negotiated with the City and that such negotiations would begin in 
November 2016. 

 
15. Default:  Time is of the essence of the agreement and Handshake shall be 

considered in default upon the failure to perform any of the terms of this 
agreement and the City may terminate the contract.  Provided, however, before 
declaring Handshake in default the City shall notify Handshake in writing of the 
particulars in which it deems Handshake to be in default, and Handshake shall 
have seven (7) days from the time such written notice has been placed in the 
United States Mail addressed to Handshake at the last address Handshake has left 

Resolution No. 13-056 5 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



 

with the City, with proper postage affixed, within which to remedy the default.  In 
lieu of service by mail, a notice of default or of termination may be served in the 
manner provided for the service of process under the Idaho Rules of Civil 
Procedure, Rule 5 (b). 

 
16. Termination For Convenience of City:  The site of the location is within the 

Urban Renewal District and in the downtown area of Coeur d’Alene.  
Development of the downtown area or the development of the City’s downtown 
properties may require the City to cancel use of the band shell. The parties agree 
City may at any time after ten (10) day’s written notice terminate this agreement.  
The notice of the cancellation by the City of this agreement for no cause shall be 
given in the same manner as notice of termination in case of default.  In such 
event neither party shall have a claim against the other. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the city of Coeur d’Alene has caused this agreement to be 

executed by its Mayor and City Clerk and its corporate seal affixed hereto, and Handshake 
Productions, Inc. has caused the same to be executed the day and year first above written.  
 
CITY OF CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE HANDSHAKE PRODUCTIONS, INC.  
 
 
 
By: _________________________ By: _________________________ 
 Sandi Bloem, Mayor   , President 
 
 
ATTEST: ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________   
Renata McLeod, City Clerk  , Secretary 

 

Resolution No. 13-056 6 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



 

STATE OF IDAHO ) 
   ) ss. 
County of Kootenai ) 
 
 On this ____ day of December, 2013, before me, a Notary Public, personally appeared 
Sandi Bloem and Renata McLeod, known to me to be the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of 
the City of Coeur d'Alene and the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and 
acknowledged to me that said City of Coeur d'Alene executed the same. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the 
day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
 

       
Notary Public for Idaho 
Residing at       
My Commission expires:     

 

 

 

 
STATE OF IDAHO ) 
   ) ss. 
County of Kootenai ) 
 
 On this ______ day of December, 2013, before me, a Notary Public, personally appeared 
__________________________ and ______________________, known to me to be the 
President and Secretary, respectively, of Handshake Productions, Inc., and the persons who 
executed the foregoing instrument on behalf of said corporation, and acknowledged to me that 
such corporation executed the same. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the 
day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
 

       
Notary Public for Idaho 
Residing at       
My Commission expires:     

Resolution No. 13-056 7 | P a g e  Exhibit “b” 



Exhibit “1” 
 
 

 BUDGET FOR SUMMER CONCERT SERIES – 2012-2014 
 

 

Eleven (11) Concerts each summer for 2012, 2013 and 2014 = $27,500.00 each series. 
 

$ 10,450.00 BAND COSTS (Payment to the concert performers will be 
$950.00 per concert.) 

 
$ 11,000.00 PRODUCTION COSTS (Each concert will cost $1,000.00 in 

production costs.)  
 
$ 2,750.00 FUND RAISING (Each concert will cost $250.00 for fund 

raising.) 
 
$ 1,375.00 BAND SHELL (Each concert will cost $125.00 in fees for use of 

the band shell.) 
 
$ 2,200.00 PUBLICITY (Each concert will cost $200.00 in publicity.) 
 
$27,775.00 TOTAL 

 
 

The Summer Concert Series will consist of eleven (11) concerts each summer for 
2012, 2013 and 2014; the following is the budget for expenses per show: 

  
Item Expense 
Band $   950.00 
Production $1,000.00 
Fund Raising $   250.00 
Band shell $   125.00 
Publicity $   200.00 

Total $2,525.00 
 

 

Resolution No. 13-056 1 | P a g e  Exhibit “1” 































ANNOUNCEMENTS 



OTHER COMMITTEE MINUTES 
(Requiring Council Action) 



GENERAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

Monday, November 25, 2013 
12:00 p.m., Library Community Room 

 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT:   STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Mike Kennedy, Chairman   Steve Anthony, Recreation Director 
Steve Adams     Jon Ingalls, Deputy City Administrator 
Ron Edinger     Bill Greenwood, Interim Parks Director 
      Troy Tymesen, Finance Director 
       
 
Item 1  Extension of Professional Services Agreement with Legends  
  Photography for Youth Sports 
Consent Calendar 
 
Steve Anthony, Recreation Director, presented a request for authorization to extend the 
photography services of Legends Photography until January 1, 2016.  Mr. Anthony stated 
in his staff report that Legends Photography has been the official photographer for the 
city all but 5 of the last 26 years.  They are very easy to work with and Mr. Anthony is 
pleased with their customer service.  Legends is requesting a $1.00 increase in their basic 
picture package from $8.00 to $9.00.  This is the first increase in fees to participants in 
seven years.  Legends will also provide sponsor plaques to the city at no charge and will 
also provide free team photos for the coaches and provide each player with a free bag tag.  
Legends also sponsors teams in each of the Rec Department programs.  Legends also 
provides a college scholarship to 3 seniors in our community. 
 
Councilman Adams asked why there was no competition for this contract.  Mr. Anthony 
responded that they put the contract out to bid a couple of times and one time they did get 
a lower bidder and went with that proposal, but they had some difficulties and some 
missed deadlines.  He also noted that it is a specialty field.  There is a comfort level 
between participants, parents and staff.  Mr. Anthony also noted that he doesn’t believe 
any other companies have been interested in the last 24 months or so.   
 
MOTION by Councilman Edinger, seconded by Councilman Adams, to recommend 
Council approval of Resolution No. 13-___ authorizing an extension of the contract 
with Legends Photography until January 1, 2016.  Motion carried.   
 
 
Item 2  Approval of Art Selection for Third Street Entrance at McEuen Park 
  of David Tonnesen for “Allium Spring Chorus” 
Agenda Item 
 
Steve Anthony, Recreation Director, presented a request for a recommendation that the 
City Council accept the proposal of David Tonnesen for the sculpture named “Allium 

General Services Committee 11/25/13  1 



Spring Chorus” for the Third Street Entrance at McEuen Park in the amount of 
$110,000.00. 
 
Mr. Anthony stated in his staff report that the public art selection committee reviewed 
over 150 initial proposals and narrowed them down to 4 artists who prepared maquettes 
for the committee.  The maquettes were put on display at the Coeur d’Alene Library for 
one month and comments were solicited.  After further discussion, the committee 
selected Mr. Tonnesen’s art piece, which also received the most votes by the public.    
The project is being funded out of the Arts Commission’s LCDC Public Art Fund and the 
One Percent for Art Fund.  Once the contract is awarded, construction will begin in 
January with a target installation date of June 1, 2014.   
 
Mr. Anthony noted that this is the second of three proposed art pieces for McEuen Park.  
The selection committee was headed by Jennifer Drake and they did seek public 
comment for about a month.  Voting was close and there was probably no more than 50 
votes separating piece #1 from piece #4.  The committee felt this piece would fit the 
Third Street Entrance.  It has zero maintenance and will be made from Corten steel, 
stainless steel, and aluminum.  It is also a kinetic piece and it will have uplighting.  Mr. 
Anthony said that the Arts Commission discussed selection at their meeting last Tuesday, 
and recommend approval.   
 
Councilman Edinger said that he is disappointed in the selection and thinks there should 
be more art reflecting the history of McEuen Field rather than it looking like Disneyland, 
Knottsberry Farm, etc.  He feels that they are getting away from the history of the 
waterfront and Coeur d’Alene.  He noted that he does respect the Arts Commission for 
what they go through to select a piece of this nature, but feels that there should be more 
history involved in the entryway into the water front and McEuen Field than what has 
been shown so far.  He will vote to have this go forward to the full council so that the full 
council will have input on it.   
 
Chairman Kennedy said that the call wasn’t specific regarding including a history of 
McEuen Field.  Mr. Anthony said that if the council wishes to see more historical value 
in the pieces going in, that is something that they can pass on to the selection committee.    
Chairman Kennedy said that there are other historical elements in the park and asked Mr. 
Anthony to bring back to the council meeting a list of the items in the park that are 
historical in nature.  Mr. Anthony noted that, as staff, they do not direct the citizen 
committee and give them the autonomy to make the choice that they feel is best.  The 
committee takes that responsibility very seriously.  He further believes that the piece will 
look nice in the proposed location.  Chairman Kennedy said that there were some pieces 
originally submitted that contained wildlife or were a little more historical, but the 
committee didn’t feel that they met the criteria they were looking for.   
 
Councilman Adams said that he was also hoping to see some consideration for the 
heritage of North Idaho and indicated that he doesn’t like the sculpture very much and 
won’t support it.   Chairman Kennedy said that one of the things that struck the people in 
the committee early on is that the sculpture has a bit of fun and a youthful “Dr. Seuss” 

General Services Committee 11/25/13  2 



feel and he thinks that was part of the concept of the park – family fun and kids, focusing 
on the future.  Mr. Anthony said that sight lines were also a big issue.  He noted that 
some members of the selection committee will be attending the council meeting on 
Tuesday. 
  
MOTION:  Motion by Councilman Edinger, seconded by Councilman Kennedy, to 
recommend to move this forward to the agenda as a discussion item.     Motion 
carried. 
 
Item 3  Riverstone/Whitewater Landscaping 
Agenda Item 
 
Bill Greenwood, Interim Parks Director, presented a request for council to endorse the 
proposal from Whitewater to landscape the area referred to as the “saw tooth” along the 
Centennial Trail and west of Riverstone Park.  Mr. Greenwood stated in his staff report 
that this area is part of the Centennial Trail right-of-way and is “jagged” due to the curve 
of the trail as it passes through the platted property lines which were originally platted as 
residential building sites.  The most recent use of the area, prior to the Riverstone 
subdivision development, was Central Pre-Mix.  The “saw tooth” area is not planned for 
any specific use by the Parks Department due to its configuration and size.  Whitewater is 
proposing to include this area in the landscaping that they will be doing in their adjacent 
project.  They will cover the cost for the improvements and in addition will provide a 5 
year warranty on the park and a 1 year warranty on all plant material.  There will be no 
cost to the city for this proposal.    The proposal incorporates a xera-scape educational 
area and a dog park.  The public will have access to the site 7 days a week as though it 
were managed as a park.  The city will retain ownership of the property that is proposed 
for landscape improvements. 
 
Chairman Kennedy said that he is the liaison to the Parks & Rec Commission and they 
had a discussion on this topic last Monday at their meeting.  The request from the 
commission is that they are in favor of moving it forward with a condition that Mr. 
Greenwood be comfortable with the level of detail and the budget provided for the 
project.  The other element about this project that is important is that the Parks & Rec 
Commission and the city decided that it is a good use of that space, and that it won’t be a 
General Fund item.  Maintenance will need to be discussed.   
 
Mr. Greenwood said that he met with Todd Prescott after the meeting of the Parks & Rec 
Commission and Mr. Prescott provided him with a more detailed budget.  Mr. 
Greenwood said that he is comfortable with the numbers, although they may change a 
little bit.  He also said that Whitewater asked to build the park and that one of the 
stakeholders is the Dog Park Association.  The park would include a dog park and an 
educational component.  Whitewater has agreed to a five year warranty on the plants and 
trees and the city will perform the maintenance.   
 
Councilman Kennedy asked what the funding of the maintenance of the park would 
entail.  Mr. Greenwood said that in the spring they would turn on the irrigation system 

General Services Committee 11/25/13  3 



and make sure it is working correctly, and they would cut back the lillies and plants that 
need to be cut back to the ground.  He further explained that the xera-scape plants are 
pretty low maintenance.  In regard to the dog park area, they would need to empty trash 
cans and make sure dog toys aren’t left behind, etc.  The maintenance would be minimal, 
probably about 20 minutes daily.  Mr. Greenwood clarified that the Parks Department 
checks the parks every day, seven days a week and he believes that the benefit offsets the 
time required.   
 
Councilman Kennedy asked about parking.  Mr. Greenwood said that parking would be 
available on Suzanne Road and that the park would be about a quarter mile from 
Riverstone Park.  He further noted that citizens could access the park from John’s Loop.  
 
Councilman Adams asked if the city would pay for water.  Mr. Greenwood said the city 
would pay for the water, but it would be a nominal amount, especially once the plants 
become established.   
 
Councilman Adams asked how far from the trail would the dog park fence be.  Mr. 
Greenwood said it would be about 20 to 30 feet.  Councilman Adams said that he rides 
the trail pretty frequently and loose dogs would be his concern.  He also asked if people 
would be able to reserve the pavilion for parties, etc.  Mr. Greenwood said the idea is that 
the pavilion would be more like a demonstration area, but he will plan on putting a picnic 
table in it.  The pavilion would be a steel post structure, with wood underneath, in brown 
or green tones, and low maintenance.     
 
MOTION:  Motion by Councilman Adams, seconded by Councilman Edinger, to 
recommend that this item be placed on the agenda for further discussion.  Motion 
carried. 
 
 
Item 4  Revisions to Agreement with Handshake Productions 
Consent Calendar 
 
Bill Greenwood, Interim Parks Director, presented a request to revise the 2014 date 
schedule in the Handshake Productions Agreement.  Mr. Greenwood stated in his staff 
report that the Summer Concert Series sponsored by Handshake Productions is entering 
its 19th year.  This is a very successful event that has become a Sunday afternoon pastime 
for a good number of residents.  The first three (3) concerts that are scheduled during the 
month of June have been moved indoors over the past few years due to inclement 
weather.  The request by Handshake Productions is to move these three (3) concert dates 
from the beginning of the season to the end of the season.  There is no financial outlay for 
the concert series and all of the funds to produce the concerts are raised by Handshake 
Productions.  The specific date changes would be to remove the June 1st, June 8th, and 
June 15th dates from the concert schedule and add the dates of August 31st, September 7th, 
and September 14th.   
 

General Services Committee 11/25/13  4 



Mr. Greenwood confirmed that the Parks & Recreation Commission approved the 
changes.   
 
MOTION:  Motion by Councilman Adams, seconded by Councilman Edinger, to 
recommend Council approval of Resolution 13-___ authorization a revision to the 
Handshake Productions Agreement for the 2014 date schedule.  Motion carried. 
 
 
The meeting adjourned at   12:41 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Amy Ferguson 
Executive Assistant 

General Services Committee 11/25/13  5 



STAFF REPORT 
 

DATE:   November 25, 2013 
 
TO:  General Services 
 
FROM:   Steve Anthony, Arts Commission Liaison 
 
SUBJECT:    Art Selection for 3rd Street Entrance McEuen Park 

 
Decision Point: 
The Coeur d’Alene Arts commission requests the General Service Committee 
recommend that the City Council to accept the proposal of David Tonnesen for the 
sculpture named Allium Spring Chorus in the amount $110,000.00.   
 
History: 
The Arts Commission has identified McEuen Park for the placement of public art.  A 
selection committee reviewed over 150 initial proposals and narrowed them down to 4 
artists who prepared maquettes for the committee.  The maquettes were put on display at 
the Coeur d’Alene Library for one month and comments were solicited.  After further 
discussion, the committee selected the art piece by the artists named in the previous 
paragraph.  This piece also received the most votes by the public. 
 
Financial Analysis:   The Arts Commission has budgeted for the placement of art in 
McEuen Park.  This particular location has a budget of $120,000.00 the proposed contract 
amount is $110,000.00.  The projected is being funded out to the Art Commissions 
LCDC Public Art Fund and the One Percent for Art Fund.  These funds are dedicated 
funds and can only be used for Public Art. 
 
Performance Analysis:   
Once the contract is awarded to Mr. Tonnesen construction will begin in January with a 
target installation date of June 1st, 2014.  The 3rd Street and Front Street entrance have 
been identified in the McEuen Park Master plan as possible locations for art.   This piece 
will be place at the main entrance to the Park.  The piece will have some LED Lighting. 
 
Decision Point: 
That the City Council authorize that the contract be awarded to Dave Tonnesen in the 
amount of $110,000.00. 
 
Steve Anthony 
 
Recreation Director 

 
 



  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 13-057 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO 
AUTHORIZING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH DAVID TONNESEN 
FOR PUBLIC ART AT THE 3RD STREET ENTRANCE TO MCEUEN PARK. 
         

WHEREAS, the Arts Commission of the City of Coeur d'Alene has recommended that the 
City of Coeur d'Alene enter into a professional services agreement with David Tonnesen for Public 
Art at the 3rd Street Entrance to McEuen Park, pursuant to terms and conditions set forth in an 
agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "1" and by reference made a part hereof; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d'Alene and the 
citizens thereof to enter into  such agreement; NOW, THEREFORE, 
  

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d'Alene that the City 
enter into a professional services agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit "1" 
and incorporated herein by reference with the provision that the Mayor, City Administrator, and City 
Attorney are hereby authorized to modify said agreement to the extent the substantive provisions of 
the agreement remain intact. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Mayor and City Clerk be and they are hereby 
authorized to execute such agreement on behalf of the City. 
 

DATED this 3rd day of December, 2013.   
 
 
 
 
                                   _____________________________ 
                                   Sandi Bloem, Mayor  
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 13-057 1 | P a g e  
 



  
 

 
 
     Motion by _______________, Seconded by _______________, to adopt the foregoing 
resolution.   
 
     ROLL CALL: 
 
 

COUNCIL MEMBER MCEVERS  Voted _____ 
 

COUNCIL MEMBER GOODLANDER Voted _____ 
 
COUNCIL MEMBER GOOKIN  Voted _____ 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER KENNEDY  Voted _____ 
 
COUNCIL MEMBER ADAMS   Voted _____ 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER EDINGER  Voted _____ 

 
_________________________ was absent.  Motion ____________. 

Resolution No. 13-057 2 | P a g e  
 



 

 

PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Between 

DAVID TONNESEN 

And 

THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE 

For 

CREATION AND INSTALLATION OF PUBLIC ART 

McEuen Park 3rd & Front 
 

THIS CONTRACT, made and entered into this 3rd day of December, 2013, between the 
CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, Kootenai County, Idaho, a municipal corporation and political 
subdivision of the state of Idaho, hereinafter referred to as the "City," an, David Tonnesen, 
hereinafter referred to as the "Artist," 
 

W I T N E S S E T H: 
 

Section 1. Employment of the Artist.  The City hereby agrees to engage the Artist to 
perform the services for design, construction, placement, installation and installation supervision of 
the exterior public art at 3rd and Front McEuen Park Entrance, as hereinafter set forth in Artist’s 
Proposal attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “A.”  

 
Section 2. Personnel. 

 
 A. The Artist represents that Artist will perform the services under this contract 

and shall not be an employee of the City. 
 

 B. All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Artist.   
 

Section 3. Time of Performance. The services of the Artist shall commence upon 
execution of this contract by the Mayor and shall be completed within 6 months of this contract being 
executed.  A specific date of installation shall be coordinated by the Artist with the City’s Recreation 
Director.    

 
Section 4. Compensation. 

 
A. Subject to the provisions of this agreement, the City shall pay the Artist a 
total of One Hundred Ten Thousand and no/100’s ($110,000.00) for services, 
payable, upon receipt of Artist invoice, as follows: 

 
1. $40,000.00 at the start of the project 
2. $40,000.00 at mid-construction 
3. $30,000.00 thirty (30) days after installation of the art object 

 
 

Resolution No. 13-057 1 | P a g e  E X H I B I T  “ 1 ”  
   



 

B. Except as otherwise provided in this agreement, the City shall not provide any 
additional compensation, payment, use of facilities, service or other things of value to 
the Artist in connection with performance of contract duties. 

   
Section 5.     Assignability. The Artist shall not delegate duties or otherwise subcontract 

work or services under this contract, except for installation and landscaping as described in the 
Artist’s Proposal.  The Artist may use other individuals working under her supervision to assist him 
in the construction and the installation of the public art object.   
       
 Section 6.     Interest of the Artist.  The Artist covenants that he presently has no interest 
and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree 
with the performance of services required to be performed under this contract. 
 
      Section 7.     Relationship of the Parties.  The Artist shall perform his obligations 
hereunder as an independent contractor of the City.  The City may administer this contract and 
monitor the Artist's compliance with this agreement but shall not supervise or otherwise direct the 
Artist except to provide recommendations and to provide approvals pursuant to this agreement. 
 
 Section 8.     Hold Harmless.    Artist shall furnish and install barriers to prevent accidents 
while installing the public art object on the site and shall indemnify, defend and hold the city 
harmless from all claims for injury to person or property resulting from the Artist’s actions or 
omissions in performance of this agreement. 

 
Section 9.   Warranties. 

 
A. The Artist shall not be responsible for the maintenance of the public art object 
or for any damages resulting from the City’s failure to maintain the public art object 
nor from any causes beyond the control of the Artist. 

   
B. The Artist shall obtain from the supplier and provide to the City a warranty 
on materials associated with the public art. 

 
  Section 10.   Ownership. The City shall maintain ownership and all rights to the public 
art object once it is completed and installed.  However, the City agrees it will include the name of the 
artists and the name of the public art object in any publication, depiction or rendering of the public 
art object that the City allows. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this agreement is executed the day and year first written above. 

 
CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE     ARTIST  
 
  
____________________________   ______________________________  
Sandi Bloem, Mayor                  David Tonnesen 
 
 
ATTEST:                      
 
_____________________________     
Renata McLeod, City Clerk  

Resolution No. 13-057 2 | P a g e  E X H I B I T  “ 1 ”  
   



 

***************** 
 
STATE OF IDAHO ) 
   ) ss. 
County of Kootenai ) 
 
     On this _______ day of December, 2013, before me, a Notary Public, personally appeared 
Sandi Bloem and Renata McLeod, known to me to be the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of 
the City of Coeur d'Alene that executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that said 
City of Coeur d'Alene executed the same. 
 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day 
and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
            
     Notary Public for Idaho 
     Residing at       
     My Commission expires:     

 
 
 

***************** 
 
STATE OF _______________) 
    ) ss. 
County of    ) 
 
 On this ______ day of December, 2013, before me, a Notary Public, personally appeared 
David Tonnesen, known to me to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he executed the same.  
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the day 
and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
            
     Notary Public for      
     Residing at       
     My Commission expires:     

Resolution No. 13-057 3 | P a g e  E X H I B I T  “ 1 ”  
   



 

Resolution No. 13-057 1 | P a g e  E X H I B I T  “ A ”  
 
 



PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: October 18, 2013 
 
FROM:  Bill Greenwood, Interim Parks Director 
 
RE:    RIVERSTONE/WHITEWATER LANDSCAPING 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Decision Point:  Recommend to the General Services Committee to endorse the proposal 
from Whitewater to landscape the area referred to as the ‘saw tooth’ along the Centennial 
Trail and west of Riverstone Park.  (concept attached) 
 
Historical:  This area is part of the Centennial Trail right-of-way and is ‘jagged’ due to 
the curve of the trail as it passes through the platted property lines which were originally 
platted as residential building sites.   The most recent use of the area, prior to the 
Riverstone subdivision development, was Central Pre-Mix.  The ‘saw-tooth’ area is not 
planned for any specific use by the Parks Department due to its configuration and size.    
 
Financial Analysis:  Whitewater is proposing to include this area in the landscaping that 
they will be doing in their adjacent project.   They will cover the cost for the 
improvements and in addition will provide a 5 year warranty on the park and a 1 year 
warranty on all plant material.  There will be no cost to the city for this proposal. 
 
Performance Analysis:  The proposal incorporates xera-scape educational area and a 
dog park.   The public will have access to the site 7 days a week as though it were 
managed as a park.   There is another section of land between this parcel and the park 
which will someday be sold and developed.   There can be a landscape connection from 
this proposed site to the park along the Centennial Trail. The city will retain ownership of 
the property that is proposed for landscape improvements.     
 
Decision Point:  Recommend to the General Services Committee to accept the landscape 
and warranty offer by Whitewater for improvements to city owned property along the 
Centennial Trail.    
 



Whitewater Creek, Inc. 8421 Government Way,
Ha》'den,EE)83835

208-772-O178

November 12.2013

BillCmwood
Parks Din∞ tor

Ciけ OfCOeur d'Alene

RE:Pocket Park― Riverstone West

Bill、

Thank you in advance forthe oppoltunity toヽ ″OrkヽⅣith you on thiS parko We can do neatthings、 〃ith this

Pocket Park,e鶴 ily leveraging the Xeriscape and interpretive Boards.this■
'ould be largeお r the city as

we have not s"n this type ofpark loca‖ 、.

There is no better use ofthis｀
｀
surplus・

°
city property.especia‖ y、″ith the site to the、″est likely to be annex

in the nearl・inture.

l believe we have addressed a‖ ofthe Commissioners concems in the designt here are some bu‖ et pointsi

●  VVe have designed the Xeriscape area with the help ofJ‖ I Roche.as per requested by the City.

o  The shelterヽ〃ili be an open beam w∞ d Structureヽ vith a sheet rnetal rooi keeping maintenance at

a lninimum.Upon park approval we will design the shelter fbr the Parks Directors approval.with

deta‖ed Xeriscape educational signs and interpretive boards.

o  We have keptto native species as much as possible.

●  There v/i‖ be an irrigation system for an tree and shrub plantings to stabilize groヽ
Vth and use in

case ofsevere drought.The dり':and grass areasヽ Ⅳ‖l not be irrigated.as per curent existing

conditions,

o  l)og、″atering lountain v/in be per Parks E)irector speciAcations as、 ve‖ as quick disconnect hose

bibs ibrthe dog area as requested by the Parks Director.

o  Please see the attached budget.

o  We will do a flVe(5)year Warran、 'on the park and a one(l)).ear warranw on the trees and

shrubs,

We will uork out exact locations of gates from the residential sites u ith the Parks Director.

We u,ill follou the Parks Directors direction on hardscape tbr the ualkuar s'



Whitewater Creek. I nc. 8421 Government Wa)'.
Havden, lD llJ835

t08-771-0 tTli

o Detailed dog park entrance area sizes. etc.. will be verified whh the Parks Director prior to

c0nstruction.

At this point we are respectfully requesting approval to move forward from the Park and Rec Commission

so we can movc thi$ to the next level with the Cit).

I odtl l)rescott



Riverstone West Pocket Park Budget

B Water lnfrastructure
Sto「 m Water
l‐3D"、veus/washed Dtt n
Rock′Fabr c

$11.00000

lrrlgaUon Meter Sei Supp y to
System 2-Disconnects/Testing
Meter C6st S4 500 $990000
Domestc Meter Se1/Dog Fountain 2
D sαDnnecls 4001Ma n L ne Testing

Meter Cost S4 500 S1319000
Subtotal $3409000

F.Main Line lncludes 5 year

1,1 00 1ndividuaI Plants Xe「 scape

Sod Areas 4・ Deep 52 272

Piolect Total l $36473200



RIVERSTONE
POCKET PARK

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

WHITEWATER CREEK

8421 Government Way
Hayden, Idaho 83835

TODD PRESCOTT
208.772.0108

2130477.40

PARKS COMMISSION
REVIEW

11.05.13

CDA/SS CDA/SS CDA

X

STATE OF IDAHO

CR
A IG

D. A NDERSEN

L A - 1 6 6 3 4

LIC
EN

SED

LA NDS C A PE ARCHI
T

EC
T

PRELIMINARY

0

SCALE:

feet40 80 120

1" = 40'

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING1

GENERAL LANDSCAPE NOTES

CONIFER TREE PLANTING2

PLANT SCHEDULE



250
FO

17
GC4

144
FO

38
GC4

8
GC1

48
GC6

20
GC4

45
GC6

RIVERSTONE
POCKET PARK

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho

WHITEWATER CREEK

8421 Government Way
Hayden, Idaho 83835

TODD PRESCOTT
208.772.0108

2130477.40

PARKS COMMISSION
REVIEW

11.05.13

CDA/SS CDA/SS CDA

X

STATE OF IDAHO

CR
A IG

D. A NDERSEN

L A - 1 6 6 3 4

LIC
EN

SED

LA NDS CA PE A RCHI
T

E C
T

PRELIMINARY

0

SCALE:

feet10 20 30

1" = 10'

PLANT SCHEDULE XERIC GARDEN



 
November 25, 2013 

PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

4:00 p.m., Library Community Room 
 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT                                                STAFF PRESENT 
Council Member Deanna Goodlander         Amy Ferguson, Executive Assistant  
Council Member Dan Gookin     Jon Ingalls, Deputy City Administrator  
Council Member Woody McEvers      Tim Martin, Street Superintendent 
        Mike Gridley, City Attorney 
        Renata McLeod, City Clerk 
        Troy Tymesen, Finance Director 
 
 
        
        
Item 1  Sidewalk Policy – Proposed Amendment 
Agenda Item 
 
Jon Ingalls, Deputy City Administrator, presented a request to consider an amendment to Resolution No. 
08-050, a resolution that established the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Sidewalk Hazard 
Abatement Program and direct staff to explore a partnership between the city and the Lake City 
Development Corporation (LCDC) and the Downtown Association to accomplish repairs to certain 
downtown sidewalk areas.   
 
Mr. Ingalls stated in his staff report that by Resolution 08-050 the City Council adopted a goal of bringing 
city sidewalks into compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  This program 
established funding for an in-house crew to accomplish approximately 5,000 lineal feet of repairs 
annually in areas as prioritized in the 5 Year Abatement Plan.  While not specifically excluded from the 
policy, staff understood at the inception of the creation of the ADA Hazard Abatement program that the 
City Council preferred, at least initially, to focus resources in other locations than downtown.  The City 
Council may wish to consider directing staff to focus resources downtown for the following reasons:  (1) 
a key overarching goal of the ADA Abatement program is to focus repairs “in a geographic area that first 
focused on civic areas, then commercial areas, followed by residential areas.”  The downtown core is an 
area that clearly meets the civic and commercial criteria; (2) many downtown sidewalks are badly in need 
of attention due to upheaving of tree roots and settling of pavers.  Corner ped ramps do not meet current 
ADA standards; (3) attempts to facilitate compliance via letters sent to property owners in October 2010 
have been largely ineffective at bringing about meaningful progress; (4) the city’s ADA Abatement crew 
could implement repairs over a two year period beginning in the spring/summer of 2014 and continuing 
in 2015 using a portion of their annual capacity (keeping some capacity in reserve for any urgent/exigent 
priority repairs elsewhere) if partnership funding was provided by the LCDC and the Downtown 
Association.   
 
Mr. Ingalls’ staff report further noted that staff has recently met with LCDC’s Executive Director and 
discussed forming a partnership project to expeditiously complete these repairs using a combination of 
city and LCDC resources.  If the City Council was open to utilizing the city’s ADA Abatement resources, 
staff would approach the LCDC with a proposal requesting that LCDC contribute funding in an amount 
approximate to the value of the cost of retrofitting corners to meet ADA compliance and ask the 
Downtown Association to contribute an amount approximate to the repairs of trees and tree wells/grates.   

Public Works Committee 11/25/13 
 

1 



 
 
 
Mr. Ingalls noted in his Powerpoint presentation that the best method to repair the downtown sidewalks 
would be to use the in-house crew to take on this project with some support from LCDC and the 
Downtown Association.   He would have high confidence that as the city team works downtown, they 
would do their best to limit their impact on abutting business owners.  Mr. Ingalls discussed the scope of 
the project, which would entail Lakeside Avenue down to the Chamber building, and then around to 
Sherman up to 7th/8th Street, and then the side streets between them, which is basically the area where the 
decorative pavers are located downtown.  There will be some tree removal, possibly about 8 to 10 trees.  
Mr. Ingalls mentioned that the corners on Sherman Avenue are not ADA compliant and will need to be 
reworked.  The contribution from the Downtown Association would be to help with cost of the trees, and 
they would ask for assistance from LCDC for the funding necessary for the materials to make the corners 
compliant.     
 
The city’s contribution would be 75% of two years’ worth of ADA funding, or $300,000.  They would 
want to reserve some capacity to respond to unforeseen emergent issues.  The cost of LCDC’s 
contribution would be $35,000 a year for two years, or $70,000.  The Downtown Association  cost would 
be $30,000, or $15,000 a year for two years.  Mr. Ingalls explained the reasoning behind repairing the 
sidewalks in-house, including increased flexibility, coordination, trust in the crew, and affordability.   
 
Mr. Ingalls confirmed that the pavers were installed around 1989, and who would decide if a tree needed 
to go.  Mr. Ingalls said that they would still go the extra mile and talk to the property owners to try to get 
their buy in in regard to the removal of trees.  He noted that when you are dealing with uncertainty, 
dealing with things in-house would eliminate a lot of change orders.   
 
Councilman Goodlander opened the meeting for public comment.  
 
Rick and Jan Carr, 513 Sherman Avenue, said that they have a shop and building downtown.  Ms. Carr 
said that she has seen so many people fall in front of their shops on 5th.  It is a heavily trafficked area and 
a big problem.  As a downtown business owner, she wants to make sure that the customers walking up 
and down their streets feel safe and don’t have to be looking down but, instead, are looking in their store 
windows.    Mr. Carr said that he personally has fallen across from Mannis Investigations on Sherman, 
and while he thinks the pavers are nice and beautiful, he doesn’t believe they are necessary.  He wondered 
if it makes sense, from a construction standpoint, to remove all of the pavers and replace them with 
concrete, or to just insert concrete where needed.  As far as trees coming out, he understands the concern, 
but as far as safety and what it is doing to sewer, electrical, and in some cases the building fronts, he 
thinks it is only a matter of time before the roots back up against the front of the stores.  He doesn’t think 
it is a question of if it needs to be done, but the question is timing and when it can be done.  He asked for 
consideration of the peak downtown season when planning the repairs, which runs from May through 
October.   
 
Councilman Gookin asked why, if this is the businesses sidewalk, they don’t fix it themselves.  Ms. Carr 
said that it is a public walkway and she doesn’t control the planting of the trees or any of the sidewalks.  
She can’t do things out on the sidewalk that she would like to do because it is a public walkway and she 
finds it difficult to think that she should have to fund it.  Mr. Carr said the cause of the problems seems to 
be the trees that are planting and the roots of the trees.  She finds it difficult to think that she should have 
to fund it.  Rick – the cause of this problem seems to be that the trees are planted there and the roots of the 
trees are causing the concrete to break up.  Like anything else, he believes the responsible parties would 
be the parties who planted the trees.  He did not plant the trees, and the trees were put in for the benefit of 
all citizens.  He thinks that it is fair to think that we all have to partake in the repair of the sidewalks.   

Public Works Committee 11/25/13 
 

2 



 
Councilman Gookin said that the sidewalks are really part of the city’s infrastructure as far as 
transportation is concerned and asked by the Business Improvement Districts and the Limited 
Improvement Districts were left out.  Mr. Ingalls responded that at the time the program was stated, it 
didn’t feel right for council at that time to ask the public for foregone taxes and put that money into the 
downtown area.  It made more sense to “connect the dots” and make sense of the original investment and 
then move downtown.  Mr. Gridley said that the downtown had a design project with pavers and trees to 
be done in a certain way.  Part of the thinking was there is a mechanism already with the BID for the 
uniform look and so the thought was to let them solve the problem.  The reality is there has been kind of 
“analysis paralysis.”  Both the property owners and presumably the city have liability if someone is 
injured.  The question is should the city do the repairs now or wait until they get a claim and fight about 
who should have done the repairs.     
 
Mr. Martin said there are certain areas in the downtown where the Street’s Department has had to re-lay 
pavers and they feel comfortable doing that.  Mr. Cooper said the Downtown Association has pavers 
stored in case of a situation where they would need to be used somewhere else so they would not have to 
buy all new pavers.  The excess pavers were acquired as a result of the McEuen construction.   
 
Chairman Goodlander asked what the Downtown Association’s stand was in regard pavers as opposed to 
more concrete?  Mr. Cooper said that the tree is the main focus.  There are different newer designs for tree 
culverts now than when they were done in 1990.  If they can contain the tree roots, that would be their 
goal.   
 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Councilman McEvers, seconded by Councilman Gookin, that the 
amendment to Resolution 08-050 establishing the Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA) Sidewalk 
Hazard Abatement Program and directing staff to explore a partnership between the City and the 
Lake City Development Corporation (LCDC) and the Downtown Association to accomplish repairs 
to certain downtown sidewalk areas be moved forward to the full council for input.  Seconded by 
Gookin.  Motion carried. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:39  p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Amy C. Ferguson 
Public Works Committee Liaison 

Public Works Committee 11/25/13 
 

3 



PUBLIC WORKS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: November 25, 2013  
FROM: Jon Ingalls, Deputy City Administrator   
 
SUBJECT: SIDEWALK POLICY – PROPOSED AMENDMENT  
 
DECISION POINT: 
The Council is requested to consider an amendment to Resolution No. 08-050, a resolution that 
established the Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA) Sidewalk Hazard Abatement Program and 
direct staff to explore a partnership between the city and the Lake City Development Corporation 
(LCDC) and the Downtown Association to accomplish repairs to certain downtown sidewalk areas.     
 
HISTORY: 
By Resolution 08-050, the City Council has adopted a goal of bringing city sidewalks into 
compliance with the Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA).  This program established funding 
(FY 2012-2013 amount is $219,904) for an in-house crew to accomplish approximately 5,000 lineal 
feet of repairs annually in areas as prioritized in the 5 Year Abatement Plan.  Specifically excluded 
from the policy adopted by Resolution No. 08-050 were properties relating to a Local Improvement 
District (LID) or Business Improvement District (BID) as stated: 
 
“LOCAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (LID)/STREET RECONSTRUCTION/BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (BID).  When considered as an integral part of a Local 
Improvement District or street reconstruction project, sidewalk improvements shall remain the 
responsibility of the abutting property owner.  Similarly, this policy does not change sidewalk 
responsibilities agreed to under a BID agreement.”  
 
The City Council may wish to consider amending the policy to eliminate the above exclusion for 
the following reasons:   

- A key overarching goal of the ADA Abatement program is to focus repairs “in a geographic 
area that first focused on civic areas, then commercial areas, followed by residential areas.”  
The downtown core is an area that clearly meets the civic and commercial criteria. 

- Many downtown sidewalks are badly in need of attention due to upheaving of tree roots and 
settling of pavers.  Corner ped ramps do not meet current ADA standards.   

- Attempts to facilitate compliance via letters sent to property owners (October 2010) have 
been largely ineffective at bringing about meaningful progress.   

- The city’s ADA Abatement crew could implement repairs over a two year period beginning 
in the spring/summer of 2014 and continuing in 2015 using a portion of their annual 
capacity (keeping some capacity in reserve for any urgent/exigent priority repairs elsewhere) 
if partnership funding was provided by the LCDC and the Downtown Association. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS: 
In 2010 a survey of downtown sidewalks was updated that identified a total of 106 properties where 
there were significant deficiencies located on Sherman Avenue and Lakeside Avenues (between 1st 
and 7th Streets) as well as properties abutting the side streets between Sherman and Lakeside (e.g., 
1st, 2nd, 3rd, etc.).  The total cost to repair these deficiencies is currently estimated to cost $400,000.   
 
Staff has recently met with LCDC’s Executive Director and discussed forming a partnership project 
to expeditiously complete these repairs using a combination of city and LCDC resources.  If the 
City Council was open to utilizing the city’s ADA Abatement resources (e.g., a 75 percent 
commitment of ADA resources per year for two years) staff would approach the LCDC with a 



proposal requesting that LCDC contribute funding in an amount approximate to the value of the 
cost of retrofitting corners to meet ADA compliance ($70,000 total, $35,000 per year for two years) 
and ask the Downtown Association to contribute an amount approximate to the repairs of trees and 
tree wells/grates ($30,000 total $15,000 per year for two years).      
    
PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS: 
Surveys of the city’s downtown sidewalk system reveal many sidewalks that are either in a 
deteriorated condition or out of compliance with ADA standards.  Safe and accessible sidewalks not 
only enable the city to meet ADA mandates, but they provide a community benefit to all citizens.  
The following sidewalk action plan is designed to attain ADA compliance and provide safe 
pedestrian travel:   
 
DECISION POINT/RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City amend Resolution No. 08-050 that established the Americans With 
Disabilities Act (ADA) Sidewalk Hazard Abatement Program to eliminate language on LID/BID 
exclusions and direct staff to explore a partnership between the city, the Lake City Development 
Corporation (LCDC) and the Downtown Association to accomplish repairs to certain downtown 
sidewalk areas.     
 
 
Attachments:   1) Resolution No. 08-050 
   2) Sidewalk & Curb Ramp – Accessibility Policy 



RESOLUTION NO. 08-050 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE, KOOTENAI COUNTY, IDAHO 

ESTABLISHING A SIDEWALK CURB RAMP – ACCESSIBILITY POLICY.  

 
WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council have deemed it advisable and necessary for the City 
to determine how best to comply with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
regarding the provision of accessible sidewalks given the financial and other resources available 
to the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council have determined that the provision of accessible 
sidewalks benefits all of the residents of Coeur d’Alene; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council have considered multiple options for repairing and/or 
replacing broken or non-compliant sidewalks and curb ramps, including requiring property 
owners to make the necessary repairs, forming Local Improvement Districts, pursuing 
legislative authorization for a special assessment for sidewalk repairs, contracting with private 
industry to make the repairs and performing the repairs in house; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council has asked for and received significant public input at 
multiple public meetings regarding the best and most cost effective means of repairing 
sidewalks; and 

 

WHEREAS, based on this public input and the direction from the Mayor and City Council, City  
Staff has proposed the policy attached hereto as “Exhibit A”; and 

 

WHEREAS, The attached policy was presented to the Public Works Committee of the City 
Council on September 8, 2008, who recommended that the City Council adopt the policy; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have determined that the attached policy is the best 
option for repairing and/or replacing damaged or non-compliant sidewalks given the financial 
and other resources available to the City; and  

 
WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of the City of Coeur d'Alene and the 

citizens thereof that such policies be adopted; NOW, THEREFORE, 
 
BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Coeur d'Alene that the 

policy attached hereto as Exhibit "A" be and is hereby adopted. 
 

DATED this 16th day of September, 2008 
 
 
 
                                  _____________________________ 



                                  Sandi Bloem, Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Susan K. Weathers, City Clerk 
 
      



 
 

SIDEWALK & CURB RAMP – ACCESSIBILITY POLICY (REVISED) 
 
BACKGROUND: In response to the Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA), the City of Coeur 
d’Alene is mandated to provide accessible pedestrian routes within the City.  Surveys of the city’s 
sidewalk system reveal many sidewalks that are either in a deteriorated condition or out of 
compliance with ADA standards.  Safe and accessible sidewalks not only enable the city to meet 
ADA mandates, but they provide a community benefit to all citizens.  The following sidewalk 
action plan is designed to attain ADA compliance and provide safe pedestrian travel:   
 

1. Continued enforcement – Regarding sidewalks, the Municipal Code remains unchanged, and 
states that the sidewalk abutting a property is the property owner’s responsibility.  
Therefore, the city’s code enforcement processes will continue to be utilized as an 
enforcement/maintenance mechanism in situations where complaints arise over a non-
compliant section of sidewalk that is not identified in the City’s annual work plan under the 
ADA Hazard Abatement Account identified below.    

2. ADA Hazard Abatement Account – This account will fund repairs for ADA sidewalk 
deficiencies that are included in a 5 Year Priority Plan that will be updated and approved by 
the City Council on a yearly basis.  The ADA Hazard Abatement Account is expected to 
fund an average annual scope of work of approximately 5,000 lineal feet of sidewalk repairs 
per year.  Work will be accomplished by the Street Maintenance Department with some field 
support from the Parks Department along with some contracted tree services.  This account 
will begin at $200,000/year and would be adjusted annually for inflation.    

3. Curb ramps – In conjunction with sidewalk improvements, the City will include the 
installation/repair of curb ramps.  Since sidewalks and curb ramps provide a benefit to the 
entire community, they have been funded out of the City’s General Fund.   

4. Development projects - per ordinance 12.28.210 (C), sidewalk repairs and improvements 
will be required as triggered by a building permit greater than $15,000 (or current permit 
trigger value if $15,000 is increased by ordinance).  Funding and execution of these 
improvements and repairs remains the responsibility of the abutting property owner.   
Similarly, sidewalks for new subdivisions will continue to be the responsibility of the 
developer.    

5. Prioritization – the City will gather citizen input such as through the Ped/Bike Committee or 
other similar forum to help establish a systematic prioritization that ensures an effective 
compliance schedule and the greatest return on resource expenditure.  In the past, City 
policy was to prioritize ADA accessibility to those streets being overlaid.  Going forward, 
this policy change would prioritize ADA accessibility work in a geographic area first 
focused on civic areas, then commercial areas, followed by residential.     

 
The following policy clearly states the City’s method of accessibility compliance for public rights-
of-way.  
 



POLICY 
ACCESSIBILITY FOR PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY 

 
SIDEWALKS/CURB RAMPS:  ADA Hazard Abatement Account – sidewalk repair and curb 
ramp installation, other than those triggered by building permit and subdivision ordinances, shall be 
funded out an ADA Hazard Abatement Account and accomplished by the Street Maintenance 
Department with some field support from the Parks Department along with some contracted tree 
services.  Non-compliant driveway approaches will remain the responsibility of the abutting 
property owner.  This account would be increased annually to keep pace with inflation.  This work 
shall be prioritized by geographic area, first focused on civic areas, then commercial areas, followed 
by residential.   
 
WATER, SEWER, AND STORMWATER INSTALLATIONS:  Whenever a street alteration 
(generally work greater than one block of curb to curb street removal/replacement) occurs due to the 
replacement of a water line, sewer line, or stormwater line as a result of a City utility project, the 
Utility shall install curb ramps along the route of the pipeline and bring abutting sidewalks into 
ADA compliance.  
 
SPECIAL REQUESTS AND SIDEWALK COMPLAINTS:   Requests for installation of curb 
ramps, outside of the approved annual work plan, will be evaluated on a case by case basis.  The 
City may install curb ramps in response to a special request from a citizen with a demonstrated need 
and evaluation by the City’s ADA Compliance Officer.  Complaints received regarding non-
complaint sidewalks will be addressed in accordance with City Code.  The adjacent property owners 
are responsible to mitigate any non-compliant sidewalks.   
 
LOCAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (LID)/STREET RECONSTRUCTION/BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (BID).   When considered as an integral part of a Local 
Improvement District or street reconstruction project, sidewalk improvements shall remain the 
responsibility of the abutting property owner.  Similarly, this policy does not change sidewalk 
responsibilities agreed to under a BID agreement.  
 
SIDEWALK INCENTIVE PROGRAM.  The City of Coeur d’Alene will reimburse documented 
residential property owner expenditures for sidewalk removal and replacement, including City 
encroachment permit fees, at $20 per lineal foot of sidewalk replaced up to a maximum of $500 per 
property per year.  Expenditures are eligible for reimbursement provided they meet the following 
conditions. 

• An application for reimbursement is completed and an encroachment permit is obtained.  A 
satisfactory final approval by the City must be obtained.  

• The property is residential (single family, duplex, or multi-family).  
• The sidewalk replaced must meet the City’s replacement guidelines.  This must be verified 

by the City prior to submittal for reimbursement.  
• The work was not required as a condition of issuance of a building permit or any other 

discretionary approval by the City.  
Reimbursement will be made on a first-come first-served basis. The City Council will establish the 
annual budget for the reimbursement account.  Once the funds are expended, eligible requests will 
be placed on waiting list for the next budget year or until additional funds become available.   
 



OTHER BUSINESS 



  Kootenai County Clerk Clifford T. Hayes 
 Auditor ⋅ Clerk of the District Court · County Assistance ⋅ Elections · Recorder 

451 Government Way · P.O. Box 9000  
Coeur d’Alene, ID 83816-9000 

Phone (208) 446-1651 · Fax (208) 446-1662 
http://www.kcgov.us/departments/clerk · Email chayes@kcgov.us  

 
 

November 5, 2013 Election Canvass Actions & Outcomes 
 
 
Machine Accuracy Verified (per Idaho Code 34-2416)   
 
Two models of ballot counting machines were tested by Elections management and staff on November 
4, 2013 in the presence of Commissioner Green, Clerk Hayes, Chief Deputy Clerk Raffee, Chief Deputy 
Secretary of State Tim Hurst, several candidates and some media representatives.  Both machines were 
tested again about 7:30 PM on November 5, before any ballots were counted.  Only one machine was 
used to count ballots, and this machine was tested again at approximately 11:30PM after all voted 
ballots were counted.  All machine reports showed 100% agreement with the test deck in every test.   
 
Public Notification 
 
Unofficial election results were posted online 11:13PM on November 5, 2013.  The by-precinct Unofficial 
results were posted online by 2:00PM on November 6, 2013.    
 
Audits Performed by Elections Staff 11/6/13 through 11/13/13 
 
Ballots cast in the precincts were matched against the ballot stubs and signatures in the poll books 
received from poll workers (per Idaho Code 34-1202).    Early voting ballots received and counted 
totaled 1,122.  Mail out absentee ballots received, envelopes counted, and ballots counted all totaled 
2,932.  The number of early and mailed absentee ballots given out totaled 4,054, but the total number 
of early and mailed absentee ballots counted by machine was 4,053.  Elections staff researched this 
situation and found one ballot was still stuck in the yellow voted-ballot envelope and had not been 
counted.  (The double-check procedure to prevent this circumstance had not been followed exactly and 
Elections management is remedying this situation to prevent a recurrence.)  Upon confirmation from 
the Secretary of State’s office, this ballot was added to the Unofficial results before the canvass; the fire 
district was contacted; and the voter abstract was updated before the results were made Official in the 
canvass with the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Absentee ballots voided in the precincts or by the Elections staff were scrutinized, and the report 
attached details each ballot, its reasons and the actions taken. 
 
Errors 
 
Poll workers in the following precincts made ballot issuance or voter registration errors: 
 Precinct 1 allowed two people to register and vote who were not eligible. 
 Precinct 30 allowed one voter to vote twice on a Post Falls/Kootenai Fire ballot.  (They had 
written “spoiled” on the first ballot, but allowed the voter to place it in the ballot box and still gave him  
a second ballot.)  Precinct 30 poll workers also issued 4 Post Falls/Kootenai Fire ballots when the voters 
were only eligible for the Kootenai Fire ballots.     

 
1 

 

http://www.kcgov.us/departments/auditor
mailto:denglish@co.kootenai.id.us


  Kootenai County Clerk Clifford T. Hayes 
 Auditor ⋅ Clerk of the District Court · County Assistance ⋅ Elections · Recorder 

451 Government Way · P.O. Box 9000  
Coeur d’Alene, ID 83816-9000 

Phone (208) 446-1651 · Fax (208) 446-1662 
http://www.kcgov.us/departments/clerk · Email chayes@kcgov.us  

 
 

November 5, 2013 Election Canvass Actions & Outcomes, continued  
 

Errors, continued 
Precinct 33 apparently had two ballots stick together, as they had one more ballot cast than the 

number of signatures in the poll book, and one ballot had no “Official Ballot” stamp on it. 
Precinct 43 issued 9 Huetter/Kootenai Fire ballots to voters who were only eligible for Kootenai 

Fire ballots.   
Precinct 47 issued one Coeur d’Alene ballot to a voter who should have received Kootenai Fire. 
Precinct 54 allowed one voter to register and vote who belonged in Precinct 55. 
Precinct 55 had one more ballot cast than signatures in their poll book.  Apparently two ballots 

stuck together, as one ballot did not have the “Official Ballot” stamp on it; both ballots were voted.   
Precinct 56 allowed one voter to register and vote who belonged in Precinct 53, and another to 

register and vote who belonged in Precinct 59. 
Precinct 58 allowed two people to register and vote who belonged in Precinct 59. 

 
None of these errors affected the outcome of any race in this election.  Procedures to prevent all these 
errors were emphasized in poll worker training, and will continue to be.  Of the 8,904 ballots issued in 
the precincts during this election, only 17 ballots (less than 1%) were issued incorrectly, and 14 of the 17 
incorrect ballots were issued in two precincts.     
 
Elections staff issued one incorrect ballot to an early voter who had changed residency.  This error 
occurred because the voter either did not take his ballot code card from one desk to the other where he 
was issued a ballot, or he pocketed his ballot code card between the two desks.  Elections management 
is revising both the size and the color of the ballot code card to eliminate the possibility of a recurrence.   

 
 
Unusual Events in this Election 
 
Precincts 52, 55, 57, 58 & 70 ran out of ballots; absentee ballots were delivered to these precincts so all 
voters were able to be accommodated.  A few voters in Precinct 57 had to wait five minutes for the 
additional ballot delivery, however.  Six other precincts thought they were going to run out of ballots, so 
absentee ballots were delivered to them which were not ultimately used.  Elections management 
realizes that we need to educate poll workers on the tradeoffs of ballot cost versus their comfort level, 
since all unused ballots are destroyed after the polls close.  (With election consolidation, it is common 
for precincts to have two and three ballot types, further increasing the potential for waste.)   
 
 
Turnout 
 
The overall voter turnout in this election was 24%; by precinct, turnout varied from a low of 2.45% to a 
high of 37.65%.   18 precincts experienced less than 10% voter turnout; 7 of these had less than 5% 
turnout.    
 

2 
 

http://www.kcgov.us/departments/auditor
mailto:denglish@co.kootenai.id.us









	Agenda
	Minutes111913
	Consent Resolution 13-056
	SR - Legends Photography
	SR - Handshake Productions
	SR - Gilbert Tracks Final Plat
	SR - Loco Estates Final Plat
	SR - CDA Place 21st Addn Final Plat
	Cemetery Lot Transfer - Dollar
	Beer/Wine License - Fork
	GS Minutes 11/25/13
	SR - McEuen 3rd Street Entrance Public Art
	SR - Riverstone Pocket Park
	PW Minutes 11/25/13
	SR - Sidewalk Policy
	Canvass of Votes

